FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/31/2018 3:31 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/4/2018
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. <u>95918-8</u> Court of Appeals, Division II No. 49876-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN DOLAN, and a class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,

v.

KING COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Defendant-Respondent,

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Intervenor-Appellant.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ANNE E. EGELER, WSBA 20258 Deputy Solicitor General AnneE1@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

It would be easy for plaintiffs and defendants to settle cases if they could simply agree that third parties would pay most of the cost. That is not allowed, of course, but it is exactly what the lower courts approved here, ignoring black letter law, the equities, and the Administrative Procedure Act. This Court should grant review and reverse.

In this case, the Plaintiff Class and King County negotiated a settlement requiring other public employees and employers to fund \$50 million in interest associated with the Class's retroactive pension benefits. The settlement thus imposes costs on public employees and employers to which they never consented. As a result, public employees across the State will pay for the Class to receive a pension to which the class members never had to contribute, and public employers across the State will subsidize King County because of its failure to make pension contributions.

Even setting aside the glaring inequity of this approach, the parties and the court had no authority to use a settlement agreement to justify forcing other public employees and employers to pay costs to which they had never consented. Settlement agreements are contracts, and it is black letter law that a court cannot force a party to comply with settlement terms to which it has not agreed. *See, e.g., Martin v. Wilks*, 490 U.S. 755, 768 (1989).

This principle applies even more strongly here, where the superior court's ruling overrode an administrative decision assigned by statute to the Department of Retirement Systems (DRS). DRS had exercised its statutory authority to determine that King County should pay the interest it owed for

its failure to make pension contributions. Rather than challenge that decision under the APA—the sole means of review available—King County asked the superior court to ignore DRS's ruling and "socialize" the pension costs to other public employees and employers. The superior court agreed, contravening both the APA and the primary jurisdiction doctrine.

Although the lower courts claimed that the issue presented here was unimportant because the facts are so unusual, similar cases are already arising in which employees claim decades later that they should have received pension benefits. Whatever the merits of those claims, local governments should not be able to settle them by imposing the costs on other public employers and employees. This Court should grant review to reiterate that bedrock principle and correct the terribly unfair outcome here.

II. ISSUES

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in requiring public employees and employers to pay \$50 million in interest to fund King County's settlement, even though the employees and employers were not a party to the settlement and in no way contributed to King County's loss?
- 2. RCW 34.05.534 requires exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to appeal. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that King County could challenge an agency order in an original action in the superior court, without exhausting administrative remedies, or seeking judicial review under the Administrative Procedures Act?
- 3. Under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, when a case filed in superior court requires resolution of issues that fall within an agency's area of specialized competence, the case should be suspended pending referral to the agency. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the superior court's refusal to refer an issue regarding interest on late retirement contributions to DRS, the agency statutorily charged with overseeing the public retirement systems and making interest assessments?

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. DRS Administers Public Retirement Systems

DRS administers seven public retirement systems, including the Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS). RCW 41.50.030. Every county participates in PERS. PERS has three separate retirement plans (Plan 1, 2, and 3), with a total of approximately 118,000 participating members and 1,100 employers. CP 1889.

B. The Initial Litigation and Supreme Court Decision Involved an Action By the Class of Public Defenders Against King County

In 2006, employees and former employees of non-profit public defense corporations (the Class) sued King County claiming that the County should have enrolled them in PERS. CP 1-6. The Class demanded that the County pay the employees' and the employers' contributions *Id*. DRS was not a party to the lawsuit. *Id*.

The superior court ordered the County to enroll the Class in PERS. Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310, 258 P.3d 20 (2011) (Dolan I). On appeal, this Court held that King County gradually extended control over the Class through a series of actions beginning in 1988 and culminating in 2005. *Id.* at 303-07. The Court concluded that the Class is therefore entitled to PERS membership. *Id.* Without specifying an enrollment date, or determining whether retroactive service credit was due, the Court remanded the case back to the superior court. *Id.*

C. In the Second Superior Court Proceeding, the County and Class Entered a Settlement, Without DRS

On remand from this Court, the superior court ordered the County

to enroll the class members in PERS, without determining whether the Class should receive pension service credits for past years, without having paid any contributions into the PERS system. *Dolan v. King County*, No. 49876-6-II, 2018 WL 2027258, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. May 1, 2018) (unpublished) (*Dolan* III). In December 2012, the County settled with the Class. Although not required by the Supreme Court or the superior court, the County opted to provide PERS service credits dating back to 1978. *Id.* The County agreed to pay over \$30 million in late pension contributions, but did not agree to pay the approximately 35 years of interest due on the late contributions. CP 69, 74-75, 80. DRS was not a party and had no involvement in the settlement.

After the proposed settlement was revealed, DRS moved to participate as amicus. *Dolan v. King County*, No. 44982-0-II, 2014 WL 6466710, at *1-3 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 18, 2014) (unpublished) (*Dolan* II). The court denied the motion and preliminarily approved the settlement. *Id.* at *3. DRS then moved for intervention as a full party, contending it had not consented to the settlement, and the County had no authority to harm the state pension system by waiving interest. *Id.* Investment returns on PERS contributions pay approximately 75 percent of the benefits for retired members, with the remaining 25 percent coming from employees' and employers' regular contribution payments. RP 177-78, 304. As a result, DRS was gravely concerned that King County's agreement to pay retroactive pension benefits without making any interest payments would result in significant underfunding of PERS retirement accounts.

The superior court granted DRS partial intervention to object to the settlement. *Dolan* II at *3-4. Over the agency's objections, the superior court approved the settlement and prohibited DRS from charging interest on the late contributions. CP 378-79, 382, 2167. DRS appealed.

The Court of Appeals reversed. It held that "it is axiomatic that an entity cannot be bound to a contract to which it is not a party," and therefore DRS cannot be bound by the settlement contract between King County and the Class. *Dolan* II at *1 (quoting *Jones v. Matson*, 4 Wn.2d 659, 670, 104 P.2d 591 (1940)). The Court vacated the order approving the settlement and reversed the superior court's decision allowing DRS only limited intervention. *Id.* at *6-7. The Court also considered the agency's argument that under RCW 34.05.510, the superior court lacks authority to hear an issue regarding administration of public retirement funds until DRS has addressed the issue. *Id.* at *6. The Court determined that the case concerned only the approval of the settlement agreement between King County and the Class, and was not a challenge to an action taken by DRS. As a result, the superior court had jurisdiction. *Id.*

D. In the Third Proceeding, Public Employees and Employers Were Ordered to Pay King County's \$50 Million Interest Debt

On remand, DRS was permitted to intervene as a full party. *Dolan* III at *3. The County and the Class agreed to a new settlement, again providing retroactive PERS service credits from 1978 to 2012. *Id.*; CP 425-30. The County and Class filed a stipulation stating that the County would pay interest, as required by court order or agreement between the

County and DRS. CP 425-30. DRS withdrew its opposition to the settlement in exchange for a requirement that the County pay the retroactive contributions and acknowledgement that DRS may seek interest on the late contributions. CP 425-28, 2168. The superior court approved the second settlement but did not determine whether King County would pay the late retirement contributions or the interest. *Dolan* III at *4.

DRS was very concerned by the unresolved financial issues. It consulted with the Office of the State Actuary to determine the cost of the Class's future retirement benefits, and whether contribution rates would have to increase for other PERS participants if King County failed to pay the interest due on the employer and employee contributions. RP 234-35, 254-55; CP 1434-43. The State Actuary determined that the retroactive service credit would add \$96.1 million in liability to PERS, of which over \$60 million would be the interest necessary to replace the lost investment return. RP 255-63; CP 1434-43. The added liability would require a four to five basis point rate increase in future monthly contributions by PERS employees and employers to fund the Class members' retirement benefits.

Id.

1. DRS ordered King County to pay the interest

In response to the State Actuary's calculations, the Director of DRS exercised her authority under RCW 41.50.140(2) and RCW 41.50.125, and ordered King County to pay \$29,260,592 in late

¹ An unfunded cost or liability greater than \$7 million causes a one basis point increase in rates charged to all PERS employers and employees. RP 170-71, 266-67.

contributions and \$65,704,577 for interest on those contributions.² CP 594-96. The order notified King County that it could seek administrative review. CP 596, 624-25; *see also* RCW 41.40.068, .078.

Rather than seeking administrative review, the County requested a superior court hearing to challenge the DRS order. RP 201-02. DRS objected to the superior court proceeding, contending that because the County had not exhausted its administrative remedies, the superior court lacked jurisdiction to address the issue of interest. CP 2106-12. It also argued that if the superior court were to proceed, the County would have the burden of overcoming the presumption of correctness attributed to agency actions. RP 9-12; CP 1623-27, 2105-18, 2123-37.

The superior court rejected the agency's arguments, concluding that equitable principles governed review of the interest issue and that the parties each had the burden of proving their respective positions by a preponderance of the evidence. RP 11-13; CP 2159-61, 2171-75. The matter proceeded to trial. In a prehearing brief, DRS argued that it had issued an order assessing interest, and that judicial review was permitted only after exhaustion of all administrative remedies. *Dolan* III at *4. The superior court held that because the Class initially pursued its case in court, the superior court had original jurisdiction. *Id*.

At the superior court hearing, King County presented the testimony of Dr. Ethan Kra, Ph.D., and Dwight Dively, Director of the County's

² The interest was later modified to \$64,422,596.55. CP 624-25.

Performance, Strategy and Budget. CP 1796-1877, 1728-96. Dr. Kra admitted that the interest owed on the late contributions is over \$50 million. CP 1833-35, 1861. Mr. Dively argued that the Department should "socialize" the interest and require PERS employers and employees to pay King County's debt. Mr. Dively contended "that's how multi-employer systems work" and "it's how it's always been done in the past." CP 1760. DRS presented evidence showing that it has never waived interest when doing so would have necessitated increasing the contribution rate for PERS employees and employers, or for employees and employers in the other public retirement systems. CP 1760, 1790-91, 1905, 2008.

DRS presented the testimony of Lisa Won, Deputy State Actuary, and DRS Director, Marcie Frost. Ms. Won explained that if King County does not pay the interest on late contributions, it will necessitate an increase in PERS employers' and employees' contributions. For example, an increase of 4 to 5 basis points would mean that an employer would pay an additional \$25 a year per for an employee making \$50,000. CP 2010-11. For a single employee making \$80,000 a year, the cost will be \$32 a year. CP 2036-37.

Director Frost testified that there has never been a prior situation "where a liability was created by an employer that would trigger a rate increase." CP 1905. She explained that it is critical to recover the interest owed because roughly 75 percent of members' benefits are paid by investment returns. CP 1892-93. She relayed that a number of stakeholders had expressed concern about the inequity of requiring other PERS

employers and employees to pay for King County's liability. CP 1898-1900, 1933. Ultimately, Director Frost decided to assess King County the full interest amount based on the State Actuary's calculation, stakeholders' input, and whether it was proper to charge all PERS employees and employers for something that happened only in King County. CP 1905, 1930.

2. The superior court held that the County need only pay \$10.5 million of its \$64 million in interest debt

The superior court held that it has original jurisdiction to decide, in equity, the County's liability for interest owed on late contributions. CP 2160. The court held that the County is liable for only \$10.5 million or an amount that would "reduce the obligation to PERS members by another 1.5 basis point." CP 2162. It did not elaborate on how it reached the \$10.5 million amount or the 1.5 basis point. The court ordered that PERS employees and employers pay the remaining interest. CP 2162, 2175.

The Court of Appeals affirmed. The Court held that the superior court obtained jurisdiction before DRS issued the order assessing interest, and therefore had "exclusive authority" to rule on the interest issue and that it was appropriate for the superior court to provide an equitable remedy. *Dolan* III at *10. The Court further ruled that charging PERS employees and employers approximately \$50 million of King County's interest debt was an appropriate equitable remedy. *Id.* at *14. The Court accepted the superior court's reasoning that because this is an unprecedented, novel case, the ruling will "not have any significant

precedential effect" on PERS employees and employers. *Dolan* III at *14.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Equity Cannot Justify Forcing the Costs of a Settlement on Parties that Never Consented to Pay Those Costs

The Court of Appeals decision forces thousands of public employees and employers to pay \$50 million to fund King County's settlement with the Class. This remarkable decision is contrary to both hornbook law and statute. This Court should accept review to reverse the Court of Appeals and require King County to take responsibility for the interest due as a result of its settlement with the Class.

The superior court had no authority to "socialize" the cost of the parties' settlement by forcing public employers and employees to pay King County's interest debt. Neither the parties' settlement nor equitable principles justified this result.

With respect to the settlement agreement, "[i]t goes without saying that a contract cannot bind a nonparty." *EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 294 (2002). In *Dolan* II, the Court of Appeals correctly held that because DRS was not a party to the settlement between King County and the Class, "it cannot be bound by its terms." *Dolan* II at *1 ("It is axiomatic that an entity cannot be bound by a contract to which it is not a party except under very limited circumstances."). DRS did not become a party to the settlement agreement when the superior court allowed intervention. Although DRS could object to the settlement, the contract continued to be between King County and the Class. DRS never agreed to

pay the interest on late contributions, and the settlement between the parties provided no basis to force it to do so.

The Court of Appeals decision also departs from well-settled principles regarding equitable relief, in three respects. First, "it is a fundamental maxim that equity will not intervene where there is an adequate remedy at law." *Sorenson v. Pyeatt*, 158 Wn.2d 523, 543, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006). Equitable relief is an extraordinary remedy, afforded "only when there is a showing that a party is entitled to a remedy and the remedy at law is inadequate." *Id.* at 531. Here, there were ample remedies at law. The fact that this Court has held that King County is liable for the class members' pension costs "is sufficient evidence that a remedy at law exists." *Id.* at 543. The court could have ordered King County to pay all of the interest. Alternatively, the County could have challenged DRS's determination that the County was responsible for the full amount of the interest. RCW 41.40.068, .078. Because there were adequate remedies at law, there was no basis to invoke "equity" to transfer King County's interest debt to public employees and employers.

Second, "equity" cannot justify imposing costs on third parties.

"[T]he person against whom the legal remedy is sought and authorized should be the same person against whom the equitable remedy is sought."

Sorenson, 158 Wn.2d at 543. It is a core rule of equity that "he who makes a loss possible should suffer the loss." German American Bank of Seattle v. Wright, 85 Wash. 460, 471, 148 P. 769 (1915). In keeping with this rule, this Court has refused to allow "equity" to justify imposing costs on a

third party even if the third party has unclean hands. *See Sorenson*, 158 Wn.2d 525. There was no legal or equitable basis for departing from these basic principles and ordering innocent public employees and employers statewide to pay King County's interest debt.

Even if equitable relief were an option, this award was manifestly inequitable. The County created its financial problem by giving the Class an extraordinarily generous settlement that greatly exceeded the County's litigation risk. In *Dolan* I, this Court held that the County gained control of the defenders over a period of decades, and the actions leading to control did not even begin until 1984. *Dolan* I at 303. Despite this, the County agreed to pay retirement contributions back to 1979, with no requirement that the class members contribute to the cost of their pensions (even though other public employees contribute a significant share of their paychecks to fund their pensions). The County was well aware of DRS's position on interest before it agreed to this settlement. RP 57-58, 79-80. There is no equitable basis for requiring every public employee and employer in the PERS system to pay for King County's litigation choices.

B. This Case Presents an Issue of Critical Public Importance, as Other Lawsuits Are Creating Additional Financial Risk for Public Employees and Employers

This case presents an issue of pressing public interest. The Court of Appeals gained comfort from the superior court's assumption that this case is "so unusual" it will "not have any significant precedential effect that might negatively affect PERS in the future." *Dolan* III at *14. Not so. Following quickly on the heels of *Dolan* III, King County is already being

sued by a class of paramedics. The class members contend that the County should have enrolled them in PERS when they were independent contractors attending paramedic training between 1976 and 2002. *Merritt v. King County*, No. 18-2-05070-7. King County may once again face a substantial bill for retirement contributions and the associated interest.

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