FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/29/2018 2:00 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95918-8 Court of Appeals, Division II No. 49876-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN DOLAN, and a class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,

٧.

KING COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Defendant-Respondent,

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Intervenor-Appellant.

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S OPPOSITION TO DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. DRS Has Not Shown A Basis For Discretionary Review.

This Court's review of Court of Appeals decisions is discretionary. RAP 13.1. Petitions for review are granted "only in certain circumscribed cases." *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wn.2d 383, 392, 964 P.2d 349 (1998). DRS does not cite the rule, RAP 13.4(b), specifying the grounds that must exist before this Court even considers review. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 132, 267 P.3d 324 (2011) ("court will take review only if we are satisfied that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)").

DRS apparently relies solely on RAP 13.4(b)(4),² claiming that *Dolan III* presents an issue of "pressing public interest" because it might lead to an onslaught of pension-benefits lawsuits that impose settlement costs on members of PERS. Petition for Discretionary Review ("Pet.") at 12-13. This is a bright red herring.

First, as explained in Section IV.C below, no settlement agreement is at issue here. The question of whether and how much King County should pay in interest was decided after an evidentiary hearing with full participation by DRS. *Dolan II* made clear that DRS is not bound to settlements to which it is not a party, eliminating any concern about the resolution of future pension-benefits claims. 2014 WL 6466710, at *1.

Second, DRS provides no facts that support its claimed fear of a tsunami of pension benefits lawsuits circumventing DRS' administrative process. Pet. at 12-13. DRS points to one existing lawsuit. Pet. at 13 (citing *Merritt v. King Cnty.*, No. 18-2-05070-7). But DRS does not reveal that the *Merritt* plaintiffs first asserted their claims in administrative proceedings in front of DRS *before* filing suit. *See* Exhibit A.³

³ Exhibit A is a petition decision from DRS and may be considered under ER 201(b). State v. Hodgson, 60 Wn. App. 12, 17 n.5, 802 P.2d 129 (1990).

² DRS does not claim that *Dolan III* conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of another division of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)) or that it poses a significant state or federal constitutional issue (RAP 13.4(b)(3)).

Third, the Legislature addressed the public interest arising from the *Dolan* litigation promptly after the *Dolan I* decision. At King County's urging and with support from DRS, the Legislature passed EHB 2771 to clarify that it never intended employees of government contractors to be enrolled in PERS. Laws of 2012, ch. 236 § 1; 2RP 25:9-28:20.

Finally, DRS is fully equipped to represent the interests of PERS even if DRS is not included as a party. DRS can seek appointment as an amicus or intervene if necessary to litigate pension administration issues.

B. The *Dolan III* Decision Followed Longstanding Rules On The Broad Original Jurisdiction Of Superior Courts.

Dolan III is rooted in the principle that Washington's superior courts have broad original jurisdiction "in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court[.]" Wash. Const. Art. IV § 6.

The trial court obtained this broad and comprehensive jurisdiction over the remedies issues at the outset of this case in 2006 and retained it throughout the case. The remedies sought by the Class included interest on "omitted contributions." CP 5. After affirming the injunction, this Court remanded to the trial court "for further proceedings regarding remedies." Dolan I, 172 Wn.2d at 301. DRS recognized that interest was an issue pending before the trial court when it sought to be an *amicus* after remand

in *Dolan I*. CP 2355. DRS later intervened to contest that same issue. CP 171-72. *Dolan II* granted DRS full party status on intervention so that it could participate while *the trial court decided* remedies issues, including interest. The trial court at all times had jurisdiction on this issue.

Straightforward application of the long-standing priority of action rule barred DRS from requiring new and wasteful administrative proceedings when the interest issue was already pending before the trial court. *Dolan III*, 2018 WL 2027258, at *8-9.

1. The Priority Of Action Doctrine Placed Exclusive Authority Over Remedies With The Trial Court.

Under the priority of action doctrine, the forum that first gains jurisdiction over a matter retains *exclusive* authority over it. *See City of Yakima v. Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 469*, 117 Wn.2d 655, 675, 818 P.2d 1335 (1991) (priority of action applies as between courts and administrative agencies). This prevents dangerous conflicts of jurisdiction and process when identical issues, parties and relief are in play. *Id.*

After DRS became a full party, the trial court specially set a hearing to decide whether King County would pay interest on the retroactive contributions (1RP 17:6-19:18), the exact subject of DRS's later-in-time decision (CP 594-96). King County and DRS were both parties in the trial court, and DRS's interest "decision" was directed solely

53098334,1

to King County. *Dolan III*, 2018 WL 2027258, at*8. The only relief was whether King County would pay interest and, if so, in what amount. *Id*.

The trial court unquestionably had jurisdiction first. At the very latest, DRS brought the issue of whether King County would be required to pay interest before the trial court when it intervened to object to the proposed settlement in 2013. CP 172. After *Dolan II*, the trial court signed the June 5 Order (which DRS agreed to), under which the Court would resolve the interest issue. Only after all of those events did DRS issue the letter decision that it now claims deprived the trial court of its broad original jurisdiction. The trial court had exclusive authority to resolve King County's interest obligation, and this barred DRS from initiating belated and duplicative administrative and judicial review proceedings.

DRS incorrectly contends that the Court of Appeals' application of the priority of action rule somehow conflicts with or imperils the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. Pet. at 17. There is no conflict between priority of action and primary jurisdiction, because (1) the interest issue was one over which the trial court had original jurisdiction and (2) as discussed in Section IV.D below, whether to refer the issue to DRS was always squarely within the trial court's discretion.

2. Neither the APA Nor The Pension Statute On Interest Removed The Trial Court's Jurisdiction.

Washington's superior courts have subject matter jurisdiction "over all claims which are not within the exclusive jurisdiction of another court." *Orwick v. City of Seattle*, 103 Wn.2d 249, 251, 692 P.2d 793 (1984). To remove original jurisdiction from the trial court and assign it to an administrative agency, the Legislature must explicitly give the agency exclusive jurisdiction. *See*, *e.g.*, *Davis v. Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 159 Wn. App. 437, 441-42, 245 P.3d 253 (2011) (statute must be one that "abolishes the state courts' original jurisdiction").

DRS's assertion that King County "requested a superior court hearing to challenge the DRS order," Pet. at 7, is false and is plainly rebutted by the undisputed timeline of events. The trial court scheduled the hearing on interest *three months before* DRS sent the letter purporting to convey its "decision" on interest. 1RP 17:6-19:18. King County did not ask the Court to set that hearing in reaction to, or to challenge, DRS's letter decision. 1RP 17:6-18. The APA did not apply here because DRS's decision involved an issue over which the trial court had long ago obtained exclusive authority. *Dolan III*, 2018 WL 2027258, at *9.

Moreover, the statute that DRS identified as the sole basis for its $"decision" - RCW \ 41.50.125 - neither gives DRS \ \textit{exclusive} \ authority \ to$

53098334.1 -12-

determine interest nor purports to divest superior courts of jurisdiction. Accordingly, the trial court retained authority to address the interest issue. Dolan III, 2018 WL 2027258, at *11; see also City of Yakima, 117 Wn.2d at 674-75 (statute that empowered and directed agency to prevent any unfair labor practice and issue appropriate remedial orders did not preclude superior courts from resolving unfair labor practice complaints).

C. Review Of The Trial Court's Fact-Based Decision On Equitable Remedies Is Not Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b).

After presiding over this case for more than a decade, the trial court was uniquely situated to decide the last remaining remedies issue—the question of interest. The trial court acted with the benefit of a fully developed record, including all of DRS's evidence, testimony and arguments on behalf of PERS. The Court of Appeals found the record supported the trial court's ruling that King County should pay \$10.5 million, with the remaining cost of lost investment income being socialized across PERS. The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not abuse its discretion. *Dolan III*, 2018 WL 2027258, at *12-14. Nothing in RAP 13.4(b) supports review of that decision by this Court.

With directives from the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals to implement the injunction, the trial court presided over proceedings to resolve a number of remedies issues. The trial court effectively

implemented the injunction: class members were enrolled in PERS (CP 20) and received service credit for prior work (CP 426). King County paid roughly \$32 million in retroactive contributions (2RP 17:11-17) and the court determined a method for paying class counsel's fees. CP 433-61.

The trial court approached the last remaining remedies question — whether and how much interest King County should pay — with the same diligence that it used to resolve the other remedies issues in order to base its decision on a fully-developed record. After giving both DRS and King County ample opportunity to present evidence and argument, the trial court engaged in a balancing process in an effort to "recognize the equities presented by both parties in a difficult case." CP 2161.

Based on the facts in the record, the trial court ruled that it would be inappropriate to require King County to pay the full amount of interest that DRS sought. CP 2161. However, to reduce the amount of projected contribution rate increases in PERS the court decided that King County should assume some greater burden by paying \$10.5 million in addition to the \$32 million retroactive contributions it had already paid. CP 2161-62.

"The trial court is vested with a broad discretionary power to shape and fashion injunctive relief to fit particular facts, circumstances, and equities of the case before it." *Rupert v. Gunter*, 31 Wn. App. 27, 30, 640 P.2d 36 (1982). "Upon the granting or continuing of an injunction, the

53098334.1 -14-

court may impose such terms and conditions as may be deemed equitable." 15 Wash. Prac., Civ. P. § 44:27 (2d ed.). A trial court's discretionary power is designed to "do substantial justice to the parties and put an end to the litigation." *Buck Mountain Owners' Ass'n v. Prestwich*, 174 Wn. App. 702, 715 n.14, 308 P.3d 644 (2013).

The trial court made well-supported factual findings that underpin this remedy, CP 2160-61, including that socializing unexpected pension costs is a normal outcome for multi-employer plans like PERS. Testimony from the actuary witnesses for both sides established that PERS, like all multi-employer plans, is designed to share risk by spreading costs equally across participants without regard to the source of the costs. *E.g.*, 2RP 94:21-95:21, 103:13-104:6; 3RP 302:23-303:9.

Despite the solid foundation for the trial court's decision, DRS rehashes its lament from the appeal in *Dolan II*, claiming the trial court's decision requires non-consenting third parties to finance a "settlement" between King County and the Class. Pet. at 10-11. This inaccurate description ignores three critical facts.

First, DRS voluntarily subjected itself to the trial court's "complete adjudication of the issues" in the case by intervening in the remedies phase. See 59 Am. Jur. 2d Parties § 144; Wash. Rest. Ass'n v. Liquor Control Bd., 200 Wn. App. 119, 134, 401 P.3d 428 (2017).

53098334,1 -15-

Second, unlike the settlement agreement in *Dolan II* (to which DRS was not a party), DRS agreed to the June 5 Order that awarded the retroactive service credit. The Order recognizes: "DRS initially opposed [the plaintiff's motion to modify the permanent injunction], but now has agreed to the entry of this Order in the interests of partially settling this long dispute and obtaining a workable structure for the complexities of establishing the extensive retroactive service credit involved in this litigation." CP 425. The June 5 Order explicitly recognized and did not resolve the ongoing dispute over interest. CP 428. The trial court immediately set a hearing to resolve that exact issue. 1RP 17:6-19:18.

Finally, DRS fully participated in the trial court proceedings, repeatedly asserting that it was representing the interests of the PERS plans and their members and availing itself of every opportunity to advocate on the issues of interest. CP 2108-2118, 2126-30. Though DRS may be dissatisfied with the trial court's decision, it cannot claim that PERS members' perspective was unrepresented or that the DRS had no input into the process that resulted in the order.

D. DRS's Primary Jurisdiction Argument, Raised For The First Time In The Petition, Does Not Merit Review By This Court.

DRS's argues for the first time in its Petition that the trial court should have deferred the interest question to DRS under the primary

53098334.1 -16-

jurisdiction doctrine. DRS waived this argument by failing to raise the issue below. Even if DRS properly preserved this issue, the court would not have erred by declining to apply the primary jurisdiction doctrine.

1. DRS Waived Its Primary Jurisdiction Argument By Failing To Raise It In A Timely Manner.

Courts generally will not entertain arguments made for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a) ("appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court"); *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) ("appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court . . . might have been able to correct"). In addition, this Court does not generally address issues raised for the first time in a petition for review. *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

DRS did not raise the primary jurisdiction argument articulated in the Petition before the trial court. DRS asserted that the trial court had only appellate jurisdiction under the APA. CP 1624. In contrast, the doctrine of primary jurisdiction "applies where a claim is originally cognizable in the courts." *In re Real Estate Brokerage Antitrust Litig.*, 95 Wn.2d 297, 302, 622 P.2d 1185 (1980) (quoting *Schmidt v. Old Union Stockyards Co.*, 58 Wn.2d 478, 484, 364 P.2d 23 (1961)). DRS also did not refer to "primary jurisdiction" in either the opening brief or its reply

53098334.1 -17-

brief submitted to the Court of Appeals in *Dolan III*. DRS's Assignments of Error and Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error simply do not relate to the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. Br. of Appellant DRS at 3-4.

As a prudential doctrine, primary jurisdiction may be waived by failing to raise it in a timely fashion. 2 Richard J. Pierce, *Administrative Law Treatise* § 14.1, 1171 (5th ed. 2010) ("the parties to a dispute can waive primary jurisdiction by not raising the issue in a timely manner").⁴ Rather than arguing the doctrine of primary jurisdiction required the trial court to refer the interest issue to the agency, DRS agreed to entry of the June 5 Order and participated in the evidentiary hearing on interest.

2. The Trial Court Would Have Been Well Within Its Discretion To Decline Referring The Matter To DRS.

DRS contends that under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, any issue within the competence of an administrative agency *must* be referred to that agency. Pet. at 17-20. This is wrong. Primary jurisdiction is a prudential doctrine, and does not relate to a court's subject matter jurisdiction. "The application of the doctrine of primary jurisdiction is not mandatory in any given case, but rather is within the sound discretion of

⁴ See also GCB Communs., Inc. v. U.S. S. Communs., Inc., 650 F.3d 1257, 1264 (9th Cir. 2011) (declining to conclude district court abused its discretion by refusing to refer matter to FCC where "U.S. South waited until shortly before trial to raise the issue at all."); Kendra Oil & Gas v. Homco, Ltd., 879 F.2d 240, 242 (7th Cir. 1989) (because primary jurisdiction "involves questions of timing, not of judicial competence," doctrine "may be waived or forfeited").

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